SID J. WHITE JAN 22 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT Deputy Clerk

By

Chief

THE FLORIDA BAR, Complainant,

VS.

MYRON C.PREVATT, JR. **Respondent.** 

Case No. 77,271

TFB File No's. 88-00077-04C and 91-00564-04C

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT,**

# MYRON C. PREVATT, JR.

# **ON APPEAL FROM A REPORT OF REFEREE**

RICHARD E. WELTY, CHARTERED

By:

RICHARD E. WELTY Florida Bar 144625 954 North Temple Avenue Post Office Box 995 Starke, FL 32091-0995 904-964-8050 Attorney for Respondent

#

### ARGUMENT

### I. ALCOHOL ABUSE AS A DEFENSE TO THIS ACTION

The Referee's remarks in his Report, at page 10, to-wit:

"While it is clear, and unchallenged that respondent was an abuser of alcohol and in fact was hospitalized in 1983 for medical complications associated with long term abuse, such condition does not account for the pattern, method, scope, nature nor duration of the misconduct present over this twelve (12) year process.

Indeed over the post 1983 years, respondent describes himself **as** a "recovering" alcoholic, yet significant and onerous abuses of the client/attorney process continued unabated. Alcoholism in not a mitigating factor in this case."

show either a total insensitivity to a person with a very common and very sad disease, a total ignorance of the effects of alcohol on the abuser, a complete lack of knowledge of the law **as** it pertains to alcohol abuse, or all of the above.

G,

Abuse of alcohol is one of the few diseases that the law recognizes **as** a defense. There is even a jury instruction dealing with the subject. In criminal law, this is a fairly common defense, and there **is** no question that it was raised and proved at the hearing. In fact the Referee called it "unchallenged."

Beginning on **page 64** of the trial transcript, the Respondent's secretary, DIANE NETTLES, explains how she knew within one week of being hired that Respondent was an alcoholic. This was in 1974, and by the Respondent's own admission it became a problem in the late sixties or the early seventies." [Trial transcript at page 129].

As Ms Nettles's testimony indicates, the Respondent turned over the day-to-day aperations of the office to hi5 secretaries. There is no question that it was their good works that kept him from having any prior problems with The Bar or any other client.

As her testimony continues, she explains how Respondent's drinking became more and more of a problem with the functioning of the office. This testimony alone should have been sufficient to **show** that the Respondent **was** under the influence of alcohol to the extent that it **would** have been impossible for him to have the necessary intent to commit a criminal offense. This was not a man that got intoxicated on the weekend or went on a binge once in a while, This was a man who drank all the time. and the drinking affected his functioning as an attorney. It affected his ability to do his job.

One fact that needs to be restated here is that Respondent had been on the checking account of Mr. McKay for several years and was put on his savings account just before he went into the nursing facilities. Had Respondent wanted to actually steal the

money from Mr. McKay, he could have written a check and gone his way. As it was, he kept what he considered meticulous records af his transactions. If he wanted to be dishonest, he could have written all the relatives upon Mr. McKay's death and told them that all the funds had been used to care for Mr. McKay and his funeral. They would have probably believed him and no one would have been the wiser. That is not what he did. I am not trying to say that the way he handled the situation was correct, but he did have a plan formulated while he was drinking, and he continued to follow it.

I know that the relationship of Mr, McKay with the Respondent was one of attorney/client, and Respondent is painfully aware that this is the correct way he should have handled the situation. However, we must remember that this man was also a long-time friend of Respondent's and his family. Obviously, that is one reason that Respondent's name was on the checking account long before Mr. McKay became ill. Combined with this long persanal relationship is the effect on the Respondent's thought **processes** caused by his abuse of alcohol.

The testimony **was** clear that Respondent gave over every other file to his secretaries to handle, but he did not turn **over** the McKay file to them. That is, **I assert**, because he felt **as if** he were taking care of an old family friend. This relationship was mwre and we all know it, but then we are not functioning with the mental processes that are impaired by alcohol. The Bar would have you believe he handled the file himself because he wanted to steal the man's money. If that were his intent he didn't do a very goad **job** of it. **As** pointed our earlier he could have just written himself a check and let the old man rot.

Instead he toak care of his **old** friend, and made sure that he was cared for to the best of his ability. He kept records of all that he did, and although they were not perfect

records they were very complete, and not all that bad when you consider his abuse of alcohol. Again, I do not want to have this Court think that I am condoning the Respondent's actions, because we all know that this was not the proper way to handle this matter, but I do think we need to understand Respondent's thought process and realize that there was no criminal intent on the part of Respondent, His mind was adversely affected by the abuse of alcohol, and there could be no criminal intent.

Without the criminal intent, the worst aspects of The Bar's complaint and the Referee's findings **are** removed. We are left with the parts to which Respondent stipulated. Considering the Respondent's long history of alcohol abuse that is the only result one can reach, Without the intent there can be no criminal action, and there cannot **be** a criminal intent with the "...clear, and unchallenged..." fact that Respondent was an abuser of alcohol from about 1970 until 1983.

#### II. THE EFFECT\$ OF LONG-TERM ALCOHOL ABUSE ARE LONG LASTING

The Respondent admits that this aspect of the case was not pursued before the Referee as strongly as it should have been. The treatises that were presented to the **Referee** did not elaborate on this subject, and Respondent assumed that the Referee had more knowledge in this **area** than is shown by his report. However, a reading of his report displays a total lack of understanding concerning the problems of the alcoholic, or a total insensitivity to the problems manifested by this disease. I am going to vote for the former, because the Referee handled the attorneys and the parties with utmost respect at both hearings. **Also**, as **seen** in the next to the **last** paragraph on page 10 of his report he goes to great pains to put quotation marks around the word recovering to describe the Respondent **as** a "recovering" alcoholic. This one action appears to me to show a lack of knowledge of the disease.

Of course, the Respondent is a recovering alcoholic! Once an alcoholic always an alcoholic. Respondent's claim to fame is that he is a recovering alcoholic, which simply means that he has taken the cure and has **been** sober since February 1983. In that the Referee **did** not appear to know that this was the way in which alcoholics classify themselves, he made what I consider some poor assessments of the situation and of the evidence presented in this **case**.

The Referee implies that the Respondent was admitted to the hospital in 1983 for the treatment of the disease, and upon his release he was **as** capable **as** anyone **else** to return to work and to carry on his life. Nothing could be further from the truth, and it **was** not what **was** set forth in the evidence presented to the Referee at the hearing.

Ms Nettles testified as to Respondent's abuse of alcohol and how it had affected him and his work. Beginning on page 68 of the hearing transcript she explains that the drinking, which she spotted almost immediately after coming to work for the Respondent, continued to increase and affected the operation of the office. It got to the point that the Respondent would not even come into the office, but would call and see if there were any appointments that required his presence. When he failed to even call in one day, she went to his house and found him in his old school bus converted to a camper, and he was completely at the bottom of the barrel. He was swollen and could not even get back into the bus after he fell out. What she saw was the culmination of close to 15 years of alcohol abuse.

The Respondent was admitted to the hospital and was very close to death. His body was toxic and any more alcohol or a delay of another day may have been fatal. He was treated for cirrhosis and hepatitis. Sixteen **days** after being admitted to the hospital,

he was released. **As** soon thereafter **as** he could be admitted, he entered the Veterans Administration Hospital for the 28 day alcohol treatment.

To read the Referee's report, one would think that Respondent would then return to work a new man, with all of his faculties, and ready to right any mistake that he had made in the past. Such is not the **case** with alcoholics. Not only do they often have the medical problems of cirrhosis and hepatitis to contend with, neither of which is easy to recover from, but they **also** have the extra baggage of attempting to put their lives back together after years of drinking.

As any of us who have ever been drunk even one time can attest to, over indulgence in the use of alcohol affects the brain and the thought processes. Medical studies have confirmed that this is a major problem with the recovering alcoholic. They have, to use the vernacular, pickled their brains in alcohol, and not only do they have to dry-out, i.e., remove all the alcohol from the system, but they also have to get the brain to function properly again. This is what the Referee did not appear to understand, and an understanding of this problem is necessary to understand the problems that Respondent faced after he was released from the Veterans Administration Hospital. This knowledge, the Respondent assumed, was in the Referee's area of knowledge, When it became obvious that it was not, Respondent sought more detailed medical studies to buttress this brief. That is the reason an extension of time was sought.

Several studies, or at least parts of them, are included in the appendix to this brief. Each discusses to some degree cognitive impairment marked by problems in concentrating and remembering. In other words, not only does the alcoholic not return to work **ready** to carrect the wrongs perpetrated in the past, he doesn't even remember his mistakes,

About a year after Respondent returned to full-time work, Mr. McKay died. The Respondent had only received one contact from any relative at the time Mr. McKay went into the nursing home, and one letter from a nephew after Mr. McKay passed away. That **is** to say that there were no squeaking wheels here looking for **grease**. The recovering alcoholic (Respondent) was busy attempting to move forward in his life, and to program his mind in an attempt to fill in the void caused by his years of heavy drinking. **As** the studies indicate, such improvement takes place over a long period.

An excellent article dealing with this problem is from The Archives of General Psychiatry, Volume 40, 1983. The article **is** titled, "Cognitive **Loss** and Recovery in Long-Term Alcohol **Abusers**," authored by Jason Bennet, PhD; Nelson Butters, PhD; Christopher Ryan, PhD; and Roger Bayog, MD. This deals with the effects on the mental processes of the long-term (10 years or more) abuser of alcohol. Respondent certainly fits this description.

The article *is* detailed discussing short-term abstinence, long-term abstinence, prolonged abstinence, short-term memory, and long-term memory. Some of the findings and conclusions **are** discussed hereafter.

As mentioned earlier, the Referee did not seem to comprehend that though the Respondent was out of the hospital and **back** at work, he did not have full use of his mental processes for several years after returning to work.

"The obvious conclusion to be drawn from these data is that recovery of cognitive function after cessation of drinking is not an all-or-nothing phenomenon. Improvement with prolonged abstinence was very notable on tasks requiring *short-term* retention of nonverbal and verbal information. In fact, alcoholics who remained sober for a minimum of five years performed, **as** a group, as well **as** nonalcohalics on our measures of STM. Dramatic improvements were **also** seen on tests of rapid symbol-to-number and number-to-symbol transcription, which may reflect recovery of motor regulation and/or increased psychomotor speed. On the other hand,.... Even after almost seven years of continuous abstinence, long-term alcoholics displayed a profound deficit in the learning of novel associations....

... Ryan and associates examined recovery after extended periods of abstinence and did not find restitution of any memory skills with abstinence periods of one to five years. Berglund and co-workers in one of the few long-term follow-up studies of cognitive and social functioning in alcoholics, examined subjects an average of 3.7 years after inpatient alcoholism treatment. They found that subjects who had remained abstinent or whose alcohol consumption had significantly declined displayed slight improvements on several measures of intellectual functioning." Id, at page 440.

Towards the **end** of that article the authors conclude:

"... The results of the present study clearly indicate that there are significant deficits to short-term retention, new learning **and** memory and visuoperceptual analysis in thoroughly detoxified long-term alcoholics." Id, at page **441**.

From this it is clear that the alcoholic has problems when he is drinking, and if he

is lucky to stop drinking and remain sober, he does not recover instantly. He cannot

function at what would be a normal level for those of us who have never been subject to

the disease for years after he has stopped drinking. This must explain, at least partly, the

law's view of the alcoholic. The Florida Bar and this Court have been instrumental in this

field by forming Florida Lawyers Assistance, with which the Respondent has been

associated since he returned to work.

The law recognizes the abuse of alcohol **as** a defense in criminal matters. Society has finally come around to realize that this **is** a disease we are dealing with, and not just a weakness of the individual. The individual alcoholic cannot take a drink and leave it alone **as** the vast majority of people can. Instead he continues *to* consume and always to his detriment,

Respondent **is** an alcoholic, thank goodness a recovering alcoholic. For him **as** long **as** he abstains from alcohol he will **be** recovering and he **will** continue to improve the functioning af his mind.

Respondent is concerned that **if** the sanction set by the Referee in this matter is not reduced, then other attorneys that are suffering from the same disease will not want to cooperate with The Bar **as** the Respondent has. During this investigation, the Respondent did everything he could to aid The Bar, its auditor, and its investigator.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Respondent **does** not expect to walk out of this praceeding unscathed. After all he stipulated to certain elements of The Bar's complaint, and has admitted that he handled his office trust accounts poorly and Mr. McKay's estate improperly. However, he **does** expect to **see** the defense of alcoholism given its proper measure.

Consideration must be given to the following factors: (1) the **Respondent's** alcohol abuse, the proximate cause for his problem with The Bar, (2) his cooperation during the entire process, (3) the fact that restitution has been made to the **McKay** Estate, and **(4)** that no monies **were** missing from his trust accounts. **After** consideration, one must realize the sanction of disbarment for five years is too harsh. This is especially true if the alcohol defense removes the criminal aspects from the Referee's report.

After reviewing **the** proceeding and taking into account the medical evidence concerning the long-term effect d recovery from the disease, the Respondent thinks that a one year suspension would **be** nearer to the sanction that **this** Court should impose.

CS: 36FM FROM TEXAS ASM EAP 12-10-91

# THE COURSE OF **ALCOHOLISM** FOUR YEARS AFTER TREATMENT

**J. MICHAEL POLICH DAVID J. ARMOR** HARRIET **B**. BRAIKER

# A WILEY-INTERSCIENCE PUBLICATION

**JOHN WILEY & SONS** New York + Chichester + Brisbane + Toronto + Singapore CORIRIGHT 1981, 1980 by the Romal Corporation

F62

(191)

32

8

taotianbastico nue mondui de

Ouestion 60. Client Interview form.

#### Emotional Adjustment and Personality 89

F03