PILED
SID J. WHITE
FEB 7 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 77,271

VS.

TFB File Nos. 88-00077-04C and 91-00564-04C

MYRON C. PREVATT, JR.,

Respondent.

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

MIMI DAIGLE
Bar Counsel
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
Attorney Number 782033

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar, Complainant below, files this Brief in answer to Respondent's Initial Brief. References to Respondent's Response to the Bar's Complaint and Request for Admissions will be designated (Response). References to the transcript of the final hearing will be designated (TR-page number). References to exhibits received in evidence at final hearing will be designated (Ex. ____). References to the Stipulation entered into by the parties will be designated (Stip.). References to Respondent's Initial Brief will be designated (RB-page number). Finally, references to the Report of Referee will be designated (RR-page number).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Singleton McKay, Respondent's 81-year old client, suffered a stroke and was hospitalized on January 16, 1978. (Response) On January 24, 1978, Mr. McKay executed a general power of attorney in favor of Respondent and signed a bank signature card converting his individual savings account into a joint savings account with Respondent as co-signatory. (Response) These matters were accomplished while Mr. McKay was still in the hospital and, as described by his doctor, in a state of "intermittent and severe confusion, agitation and combativeness." (Ex. 1, Attchs. 5, 6)

After the stroke, Mr. McKay's niece wrote Respondent requesting that a guardianship be established for her uncle; however, no guardianship was ever sought or affected. (TR 149; Response)

Instead, Respondent used the power of attorney to manage Mr. McKay's affairs without court supervision. (Response)

No substantial loans were ever made to Respondent when Mr. McKay was handling his own finances. (TR 145-146) While Mr. McKay was in various nursing homes during the next several years, however, Respondent, using the power of attorney and his co-signatory authority on Mr. McKay's bank accounts, made unsecured loans to himself in excess of \$15,000.00 from his client's assets. (Response;

Ex, 1) Respondent also made loans to friends and other clients. These loans included a \$5,000.00 loan that was discharged by the debtor's bankruptcy; a \$15,578.37 loan in the form of a second mortgage that was written off when the proceeds of a foreclosure sale were insufficient to cover the mortgage; and a \$4,000.00 loan on which \$3,600.00 interest was never recovered. (Response; Ex. 1) In his answer to the Bar's Complaint, Respondent admits that Mr. McKay's assets exceeded \$90,000.00 at the time of his stroke but amounted to less than \$50,000.00 at the time of his death in September 1984. (Response) In fact, Mr. McKay's accountant, called by Respondent at final hearing, testified to having some concern about Mr. McKay outliving his income. (TR 57)

In order to give some color of propriety to the loans he made to himself, Respondent employed a facade of promissory notes, amortization schedules, and "guardianship fees." Instead of making direct payments on the loans, Respondent began charging Mr. McKay fees for handling his affairs. Respondent then used these fees to offset payments due on the loans. The loans were made and the fees charged without Mr. McKay's knowledge or consent, or the knowledge or consent of Mr. McKay's relatives. (Response; TR 176) In a deposition taken in the civil suit filed against him by Mr. McKay's estate, Respondent admits that the "guardianship fees" he charged were "arbitrary." (Ex. 3, p. 44) Respondent further admits that there was no statement of services rendered to support the fees claimed.

(TR 153)

While Respondent ceased making loans to himself from Mr. McKay's assets after the latter's death in 1984, he continued to engage in conduct violative of the Rules of Professional Conduct: he failed to probate Mr. McKay's will for four years despite inquiries from relatives (Response; TR 18); he did not inventory assets (Response); he failed to contact potential beneficiaries (Response); and he continued to use the power of attorney though the agency relationship created by that instrument ceased by law at death. (TR 171) As a result of Respondent's four year delay in probating Mr. McKay's will, two named beneficiaries died before receiving their devises.

(TR 21-22) Additionally, the loans Respondent made to himself from Mr. McKay's assets remained unrepaid for almost ten years (Response). The loans were repaid in 1991 only after civil suit was filed against Respondent on behalf of Mr. McKay's estate, an action that further delayed the probate proceedings. (TR 20-22)

Finally, it is without dispute that for 15 years Respondent failed to comply with the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts of The Florida Bar in that no monthly trust comparisons were prepared; significant shortages and overages existed; and commingling occurred. (Stip; Exs. 1, 2) Respondent's records were so poorly kept that the Bar auditor could not, with complete confidence, calculate the amounts of money involved. (Ex. 2)

Based on the evidence presented at final hearing, the Referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of all of the rules cited in The Bar's Complaint. After additionally considering factors in aggravation and mitigation, the Referee felt "compelled" to recommend the ultimate sanction of disbarment. (RR 11) Respondent appeals that recommendation.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In his Report, the Referee specifically considered and rejected the defense of alcoholism posited by Respondent. The Referee's finding in this regard is supported by competent, substantial evidence. Such evidence centers around the continuing nature of Respondent's misconduct long after his recovery from alcoholism began.

The presence of numerous aggravating factors compelled the Referee to recommend that Respondent be disbarred. That recommendation is in accordance with previous decisions by this Court and should be adopted here.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT ALCOHOLISM IS NOT A MITI-GATING FACTOR IN THIS CASE IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

In February 1983, Respondent was hospitalized for alcoholism, a condition he asserts as an almost complete defense to his misconduct in the instant case. While this Court has recognized alcoholism as a mitigating factor in Bar disciplinary matters, the Referee here specifically found that Respondent's misfeasance was not due in any substantial part to his alcoholism because "significant and onerous abuses of the client/attorney process continued unabated" long after Respondent's recovery from alcoholism began. (RR 10) These abuses include Respondent's failure to take any steps to administer

Mr. McKay's estate after his death in September 1984 (Response); his failure to respond to inquiries from Mr. McKay's relatives in

November 1984 regarding the estate (TR 14-16); his failure, until

1988-1989, to implement proper trust accounting procedures (Ex. 2); and his failure to pay back the loans for almost ten years (Response).

Respondent's ability to manage Mr. McKay's affairs and apparently those of other clients is further reason why Respondent's alcoholism cannot be afforded great weight as a mitigating factor If alcohol and not a dishonest motive was truly to blame far Respondent's actions, it would be only reasonable to see the whole of his practice affected. Yet, there is no clear evidence of an extensive pattern of neglect with respect to client cases. (TR 76) To the contrary, evidence presented at the final hearing indicates that despite his alcoholism, Respondent was able to manage his own and Mr. McKay's affairs well enough to carry out an elaborate scheme of loans to himself, involving promissory notes, refinancing arrangements, and amortization schedules. (Exs. 1, 3) inconsistent for Respondent to assert on the one hand that he "was under the influence of alcohol to the extent that it would have been impossible for him to have the necessary intent to commit a criminal offense" (RB 3), then to claim on the other hand that he was able to keep records meticulously enough to demonstrate a lack of dishonest motive. (RB 4) Additionally, testimony at the final hearing appears to indicate that Respondent did not abuse alcohol while working. (TR 33-34, 52) The Referee, having heard this evidence, correctly found that Respondent's alcoholism could not "account for the pattern, method, scope, nature nor duration of the misconduct present over this twelve (12) year process." (RR 10)

Finally, Respondent also asserts in mitigation that the informal manner in which the McKay matter was handled was due in large measure to the "long personal relationship" between the two. (RB 4) However, the Referee, citing no "historical basis in evidence" to support such a finding, rejected this argument "out of hand." (RR 9) The Florida Bar respectfully submits that there is nothing in the record to contradict the Referee's finding in this regard.

ISSUE II

THE EGREGIOUS FACTS OF THIS CASE WARRANT THE ULTIMATE SANCTION OF DISBARMENT.

In accordance with the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, a set of disciplinary guidelines adopted by The Florida Bar's Board of Governors, the following aggravating factors are relevant in determining what discipline to impose against Respondent:

Section 9.22(b) -- dishonest or selfish motive in that

Respondent made loans to himself and then failed to probate

Mr. McKay's will, possibly to conceal the existence of the loans for as long as possible (see Response; TR 18);

Section 9.22(c) -- pattern of misconduct in that Respondent did not dip into Mr. McKay's assets just once but made several loans to himself and others over an extended period of time (see Response; Ex. 1);

<u>Section 9.22(d)</u> -- multiple offenses in that Respondent has either admitted guilt or been found guilty of numerous violations of the Rules of Professional conduct stemming from the loans he made to himself, his failure to set up a guardianship, his failure to probate the will, and procedural trust accounting violations (see Stip., RR);

Section 9.22(h) -- vulnerability of victim in that Mr. McKay was an elderly client who suffered a stroke and was confined to nursing homes during the years Respondent was mishandling hi5 affairs (See Response;

Section 9.22(i) -- substantial experience in the practice of law in that Respondent has been an attorney since 1968 and testified to having handled numerous probate matters (see TR 102, 139)

<u>Section 9.22(j)</u> -- indifference to making restitution in that the loans Respondent made to himself remained unrepaid for more than ten years (<u>see</u> Response).

This Court has often felt compelled to disbar attorneys for misconduct similar to that in the case at bar. In The Florida Bar
V. Lewin, 342 So.2d 513 (Fla. 1977), for example, the Court agreed with the referee that disbarment was appropriate where an attorney invested estate funds without court authorization or consent of the beneficiary; failed to account properly for such funds; and filed a false receipt with the probate court to obtain an order of discharge. Similarly, in The Florida Bar v. Casler, 508 So.2d 723 (Fla. 1987), the Court disbarred an attorney for misappropriating a large amount of estate assets, commingling his own funds with those of a client, and failing to maintain adequate trust records.

Disbarment was also the discipline imposed in The Florida Bar v. Knowles, 500 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1986). The accused attorney in Knowles had been found guilty of misappropriating large sums of money from clients and argued on appeal that the referee's recommended discipline of disbarment was too harsh given the role that alcohol had played in causing his misconduct. acknowledging alcoholism as the underlying cause of the attorney's actions, the Court found that it did not "constitute a mitigating factor sufficient to reverse the referee's recommendation of disbarment." Id. at 142. In reaching this decision, the Court noted that despite his alcoholism, Knowles had worked regularly during the time period in question without a discernible decline in The Court further noted that the clients from whom Knowles income. stole were elderly individuals who trusted him and for whom he held powers of attorney. Id. Given those facts, facts strikingly similar to those in the instant case, the Court agreed disbarment was appropriate even though the respondent had no prior discipline and had made prompt restitution to his clients.

Finally, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Golub</u>, 550 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1989), the Court rejected the referee's recommendation of a three-year suspension and instead ordered that the attorney be disbarred for unauthorized removal of funds from an estate. The respondent in <u>Golub</u> had argued on appeal that his alcoholism, lack of prior discipline, cooperation throughout the disciplinary proceedings, and self-imposed suspension from the practice of law

warranted something less than a three-year suspension. In agreeing with The Florida Bar that Golub should be disbarred, the Court noted that "while alcoholism explains the respondent's conduct, it does not excuse it" and found that the mitigating circumstances did not "outweigh the fact that the respondent stole substantial sums of money over an extended period of time from a client who had bestowed his trust upon the respondent to see that the client's beneficiaries were cared for after his death." Id. at 456. In the instant case, Respondent violated the same trust and should be similarly disciplined. (TR 18, 171)

Based on the foregoing case law, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Court uphold the Referee's recommendation of disbarment and order Respondent to pay the costs of these proceedings.

Respectfully submitted,

Mimi Daigle, Bar The Florida Bar

650 Apalachee Parkway

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300

(904) 561 – 5600

Attorney No. 782033